DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 19-0643

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF NICHOLAS COUNTY

MICHAEL D. HARLOW Plaintiff Below, Petitioner

v.

EASTERN ELECTRIC, LLC Defendant Below, Respondent.

PETITIONER MICHAEL D. HARLOW'S BRIEF

M. Shane Harvey (WV Bar No. 6604)
JACKSON KELLY, PLLC
500 Lee Street East, Suite 1600
Charleston, West Virginia 25301-3202
Telephone (304) 340-1000
Fax: (304) 340-1130
sharvey@jacksonkelly.com

Counsel for Petitioner

October 28, 2019

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal presents the first opportunity for this Court to address the appropriate standard for awarding attorney's fees and costs under the West Virginia Uniform Limited Liability Company Act (the "Act").

Under the Act, when a member elects to disassociate from a limited liability company, the company is required to pay "fair value" for the member's distributional interest and to make a purchase offer to the member within thirty days. *See* W.Va. Code §31B-7-701(a) and (b). If the parties cannot agree on a purchase price, the disassociated member may bring an action to determine the fair value. *See* W.Va. Code §31B-7-701(d) and (e). If the circuit court in such an action finds that the company acted "arbitrarily, vexatiously or not in good faith," the circuit court may award reasonable expenses (including expert and attorney fees) to the dissociated member. *See* W.Va. Code §31B-7-702(d).

Petitioner Michael Harlow ("Petitioner" or "Mr. Harlow") is an electrician who was one of three members of Respondent Eastern Electric Company, LLC ("Eastern"). He elected to disassociate from the company in April 2017. When Eastern would not offer fair value for Mr. Harlow's membership interest, he was forced to bring an action under the Act in the Circuit Court of Nicholas County. As explained more fully below, Mr. Harlow's action was very successful: the company made a very low initial offer and Mr. Harlow ultimately recovered far more than that offer. The litigation, however, was protracted and expensive, and Mr. Harlow submitted a request

for his reasonable expenses under the Act. That request, however, was denied by the circuit court in a June 19, 2019 order that is the subject of this appeal.

The facts demonstrate that Mr. Harlow should have been awarded his reasonable expenses under the Act. In response to Mr. Harlow's dissociation from the company, Eastern played hardball. On May 12, 2017, Eastern offered Mr. Harlow a mere \$45,500 or a one-third share in any recovery obtained by the company in a claim it had filed before the West Virginia Claims Commission ("Grim matter"). (JA 000596). This offer was *completely arbitrary:* Eastern offered \$45,500 simply because its lawyer advocated offering \$20,000, which Eastern then "doubled" because it knew \$20,000 was too low. (JA 000669). The amount was not tied to the values reflected on Eastern's balance sheet in any way.

In response to Eastern's low and arbitrary offer, Mr. Harlow sought a reasonable resolution. On May 19, 2017, Mr. Harlow offered to do one of three things: accept \$120,000 plus one-third of any recovery from the Grim matter; accept \$225,000 without any recovery for the Grim matter; or agree to the appointment of a neutral third-party expert to evaluate the value of the company and Petitioner's share. (JA 000604-605). However, rather than engage a neutral third-party or negotiate any further, Eastern pushed the parties into expensive and protracted litigation. In a letter dated May 22, 2017, Eastern rejected Mr. Harlow's proposals for resolution as "unreasonable" and stated that Eastern's original offer was its final and best offer. (JA 000611).

Mr. Harlow was eventually left with no choice but to file the instant action to value his membership interest. The ultimate outcome - delivered after numerous discovery disputes and seventeen months of bitter litigation - was very unfavorable for Eastern. Eastern's *own* expert conceded that Petitioner's interest was worth roughly \$80,000 *plus* one-third of the Grim recovery – a figure much larger than the purchase offer made by Respondent (\$45,000 *or* one-third of the

Grim recovery). (JA 000011; JA 001186; JA 001198-1199). Petitioner's expert similarly determined that Petitioner's interest was worth \$100,000 *plus* one-third of the Grim recovery. (JA 000011; JA 000747; JA 000765; JA 000794-796). Ultimately, the parties *stipulated* that the value of the Petitioner's share was worth \$100,000 *plus* a one-third interest in the Grim matter and Respondent was ordered to pay this amount. (JA 000006). This amount was very close to Mr. Harlow's initial offer made in May 2017, two years earlier.

By any measure, the Respondent's initial purchase offer of *either* \$45,000 *or* one-third of the Grim recovery was woefully inadequate. Rather than make a good faith offer for fair value, Eastern made a completely arbitrary offer that even its own expert could not support. Nevertheless, despite the expensive and needless litigation that Plaintiff was forced to endure, the circuit court found in its June 19, 2019 order that Mr. Harlow would *not* be awarded his reasonable expenses.

However, this is *precisely* the type of situation in which reasonable expenses should be awarded under the Act. Eastern made an arbitrary, low-ball offer to Mr. Harlow and then forced him to litigate for nearly two years in order to obtain fair value for his membership interest. As set forth below, however, the circuit court, failed to award Mr. Harlow his reasonable expenses because it improperly focused on the standard for awarding attorney fees *in equity*, as opposed to the *statutory standard* set forth in the Act. In doing so, the circuit court required "clear and convincing" proof of bad faith or vexatious conduct, whereas the Act only requires a showing that a party has acted "arbitrarily, vexatiously or not in good faith." As a result, the circuit court failed to award fees incurred due to Eastern's "arbitrary" offer and failed to grant fees for Eastern's failure to negotiate and litigate in good faith.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Courts can grant attorney fees and costs to the prevailing party in two ways. First, in exceptional circumstances, a court can use its equitable powers to grant fees and costs when the opposing party has acted in bad faith. Second, a court can grant fees and costs pursuant to the express terms of a fee-shifting statute.

Here, Mr. Harlow sought fees and costs from Eastern under the Act, which expressly allows a circuit court to award fees when a limited liability company behaves "arbitrarily, vexatiously or not in good faith" in an action to value a departing member's interest. W.Va. Code §31B-7-702(d). Rather than apply this *statutory* language, however, the circuit court focused solely on whether Mr. Harlow was entitled to fees *in equity*, which requires a "clear and convincing" showing that a party has acted in bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly or for oppressive reasons.

Because it applied the wrong standard, the circuit court failed to award Mr. Harlow fees and costs for Eastern's "arbitrary" purchase offer pursuant to W.Va. Code §31B-7-702(d). As explained below, there is judicial precedent for awarding fees when a party makes an "arbitrary" offer that has no legal or factual basis, as Eastern did here. The circuit court, however, never even analyzed whether Eastern behaved "arbitrarily," as required by the statute. This was reversible error.

Similarly, the circuit court erred when it failed to find that Eastern had behaved "vexatiously or not in good faith." As explained below, Eastern failed to negotiate in good faith, resisted giving Mr. Harlow the information necessary to value his interest, and launched a needless effort to disqualify Mr. Harlow's wife (who is an attorney) from assisting him. However, the circuit court excused Eastern's conduct – perhaps because it was mistakenly looking for "clear and convincing" proof of bad faith as required to award fees in equity. This also was reversible error.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner believes this matter is appropriate for oral argument and decision under Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure because the case involves an issue of first impression regarding the proper standard for awarding attorney fees and costs under the West Virginia Limited Liability Company Act.

V. ARGUMENT

- A. The Circuit Court Applied the Wrong Standard and Thereby Failed to Award Expenses to Mr. Harlow for Eastern's "Arbitrary" Actions.
 - 1. Fees Can Be Awarded In Equity or By Statute.

Under the "American Rule," each party in litigation bears its own attorney fees and costs. However, there are exceptions to this rule. For instance, "[t]here is authority in equity to award to the prevailing litigant his or her reasonable attorney's fees as 'costs,' without express statutory authorization, when the losing party has acted in bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly or for oppressive reasons. "Syl. Pt. 3, *Sally-Mike Properties v. Yoakum*, 179 W.Va. 45, 366 S.E.2d 246 (1986). However, fees are rarely granted in equity and the standard for granting such relief is high. This Court has found, for instance, that "bad faith" must be proven by "clear and convincing evidence" before attorney's fees will be granted in equity. *See Miller v. Lambert*, 196 W.Va. 24, 33, 467 S.E.2. 165, 174 (1995).

Importantly, an award of costs and fees can also be authorized expressly by statute. In this case in particular, the Act provides that a circuit court may award reasonable expert and attorney fees in an action to value a member's interest when the opposing party acts "arbitrarily, vexatiously or not in good faith." *See* W.Va. Code §31B-7-702(d). Critically, the Act's statutory provision

does not require "clear and convincing" proof for such an award, nor does it limit fees to instances of bad faith or vexatious conduct.

In this case, the circuit court erred by relying on the stringent standard for granting fees *in equity* instead of looking to the *express statutory standard* for awarding expenses under the Act. After noting that "there is authority in equity" to award fees against a party that has acted "in bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly or for oppressive reasons," the circuit court looked to prior West Virginia cases to define "bad faith" and "vexatious" behavior. (JA 000013). Then, after noting that bad faith "must be proven by clear and convincing evidence in order for a Court to assess costs," the circuit court concluded that "neither party has proven by clear and convincing evidence that either party acted in bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly, or for oppressive reasons." (JA 000013-14).

This was error. The Act *expressly* provides that reasonable expenses may be awarded when a party acts "arbitrarily" in a court action to determine the fair value of a member's interest in a limited liability company. W.Va. Code §31B-7-702(d). However, the circuit court did not apply this statutory language. It made no effort to define what constitutes "arbitrary" behavior under the Act, nor did it determine whether Eastern behaved "arbitrarily" in its dealings with Mr. Harlow. There is precedent, however, to aid this Court in answering these questions.

2. There is Precedent for Awarding Fees for "Arbitrary" Actions.

West Virginia's Uniform Limited Liability Act is based on a uniform act -- the Uniform Limited Liability Act of 1996 ("Uniform Act") -- proposed by the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws. Unfortunately, there appear to be no court decisions determining when reasonable expenses should be awarded for "arbitrary" action under the

Uniform Limited Liability Act of 1996 or the various state statutes modeled after it, including West Virginia's statute.

Importantly, though, the attorney fee provision found in the Uniform Act and West Virginia's Act is identical or nearly identical to provisions found in similar statutes. For example, West Virginia also uses the "arbitrarily, vexatiously or not in good faith" standard to award fees under both its Business Corporation Act and Uniform Partnership Act. *See* W. Va. Code § 31D-13-1331(a)–(b)(2) (court costs and counsel fees under West Virginia's Business Corporation Act); W. Va. Code § 47B-7-1(i) (purchase of disassociated partner's interest under West Virginia's Uniform Partnership Act). Other states likewise use identical or similar language to award expenses in actions to determine the value of corporate shares or partnership interests. *See* Fla. Stat. § 620.2123(1) (court costs and counsel fees under Florida's Revised Uniform Limited Partnership Act); N.C. Gen. Stat. § 55-13-31(a) (court costs and expenses under North Carolina's Business Corporation Act); S.C. Code Ann. § 33-13-310(a) (court costs and counsel fees under South Carolina's Corporations, Partnership and Associations Act); Wash. Rev. Code § 23B.13.310(1) (court costs and counsel fees under the Washington Business Corporation Act).

While this Court has never considered what conduct constitutes "arbitrary" action meriting the award of fees under West Virginia's various business statutes, a court in Iowa has undertaken such an analysis. As with the statute here, Iowa's Business and Professional Corporations and Companies statute allows fees to be awarded when a party acts "arbitrarily, vexatiously, or not in good faith" in an action to determine the value of a dissenting shareholder's shares. *See* I.C.A. 490.1331. In *Security State Bank, Hartley, Iowa v. Ziegeldorf*, 554 N.W.2d 884 (Iowa 1996), the Supreme Court of Iowa considered whether an award of attorney's fees to a dissenting shareholder under this statute was warranted on the grounds that the company's offer was "arbitrary." Because

the Iowa statute did not define "arbitrary," the Supreme Court of Iowa elected to give the term its "ordinary meaning." *Id.* at 894. In doing so, the court looked to the dictionary for guidance and ultimately determined that "arbitrary" means "an unreasoned decision made without regard to law or facts." *Id.* Applying this standard, the court found that attorney's fees should have been awarded to a dissenting shareholder after the company offered the book value of the shares, rather than the fair value, without any "legal or factual basis." *Id.* at 895.

3. The Circuit Court Should Have Awarded Fees for Eastern's Arbitrary Conduct.

The circuit court below should have undertaken a similar analysis to that of the *Ziegeldorf* Court. The Act expressly allows an award of fees and expenses when a party behaves "arbitrarily" in an action to determine a member's interest. W.Va. Code §31B-7-702(d). While the Act does not define the terms "arbitrary" or "arbitrarily," the circuit should have applied the ordinary definition of these terms. Syl. Pt. 6, in part, *State ex rel. Cohen v. Manchin*, 175 W. Va. 525, 336 S.E.2d 171 (1984) ("Undefined words and terms used in a legislative enactment will be given their common, ordinary and accepted meaning."). The circuit court should have then determined – as required by the Act – whether Eastern's actions were "arbitrary," as that term is ordinarily understood.

Had the circuit court undertaken this analysis, it would have had to conclude that Eastern acted "arbitrarily." Upon a member's disassociation, a company is required to purchase the member's interest for "fair value" and must make a purchase offer to do so in no more than thirty days. See W.Va. Code §31B-7-701(a) and (b). The offer must be accompanied by information about the company's assets, liabilities and balance sheet as well as an estimate of how the offer was calculated. W.Va. Code §31B-7-701(b). Companies that do not follow this process do so at their peril. The Act grants circuit courts authority to award reasonable expenses when a party acts

"arbitrarily, vexatiously or not in good faith" and emphasizes that such awards "may be based on the company's failure to make an offer to pay or to comply with" the Act's procedures for making an offer. W.Va. Code §31B-7-702(d).

Here, Eastern did not make an offer for "fair value" as required by the Act. Instead, its offer to Mr. Harlow was entirely arbitrary. Although Eastern routinely uses an accountant for its business affairs, it did not employ an accountant prior to making an offer to Mr. Harlow. (JA 000490). Instead, Eastern had its office manager cobble together some information about the book value of the company's assets and liabilities, and then prepared a "recast" balance sheet that arbitrarily adjusted some of these book values based on direction from the company's remaining members. (JA 000493-494). This "recast" balance sheet, however, had major deficiencies. It significantly undervalued or omitted many of the company's assets and wholly omitted significant accounts receivable due to the company. (JA 000605-606). Indeed, Mr. Harlow's expert accountant would later discover that Eastern's had undervalued its assets by over \$281,000.

To make matters worse, Eastern then made an offer to Mr. Harlow that wasn't even tied to its flawed and "recast" balance sheet at all. Although Eastern's *own* "recast" balance sheet indicated that Mr. Harlow's interest was worth at least \$60,000, Eastern offered Mr. Harlow *either* \$45,500 *or* one-third of any recovery in the pending Grim matter.³ Eastern's offer letter never

¹ Eastern valued its assets at \$756,472 using subjective values for its assets instead of obtaining or applying third party valuations. (JA 000599). For example, Eastern: assessed its real property at \$120,000 despite a 2007 appraisal valuing the property at \$175,000 (JA 000559-436); failed to include values for some assets altogether (e.g., a bucket truck and \$125,844 in accounts receivables) (JA 000785); and deemed one debt owed by Trinity Solutions (owned in part by the two remaining Eastern members) as "uncollectible" – a decision Mr. Harlow's accountant called "self-serving." (JA 000597; 000472).

² Relying on appraisals and other third-party documentation, Mr. Harlow's accountant determined that Eastern's assets were actually worth \$1,038,230 rather than the \$756,472 claimed by Eastern – a difference of over \$281,000. (JA 000788).

³ Eastern's "recast" balance sheet showed that Eastern had net equity of \$180,485.27. (JA 000599). As a one-third owner of Eastern, the value of Mr. Harlow's share would be in excess of \$60,000.

revealed how Eastern calculated the \$45,500 cash component of its offer.⁴ But, the company's remaining members later conceded that they reached the amount by simply doubling a \$20,000 offer that their lawyer had suggested, but which Eastern's remaining members felt was too low. (JA 000669).

As in *Ziegeldorf*, such an offer had no "legal or factual basis." 554 N.W.2d at 895. In *Ziegeldorf*, the defendant was found to have behaved "arbitrarily" when it based its offer on book value rather than fair value. Id. at 894. Here, Eastern behavior was even worse. It started with the book value of its assets, made some arbitrary adjustments to those book values, and then ultimately made an offer untied to either book value or fair value: \$45,500 or one-third of any recovery in the Grim matter. No one can claim that this offer resembled fair value. Indeed, Eastern's *own* expert accountant ultimately opined that Mr. Harlow's interest was worth roughly \$80,000 *plus* one-third of the Grim matter. (JA 000011; JA 001186; JA 001198-1199). Similarly, Mr. Harlow's expert accountant would later value Mr. Harlow's interest to be \$100,000 *plus* 1/3 of the Grim matter. (JA 000011; JA 000747; JA 000765; JA 000794-796).

Eastern engaged in just the type of "arbitrary action that an award of attorney fees was meant to deter." *Ziegeldorf* at 895. The Act requires companies to offer disassociated members "fair value" for their shares. *See* W.Va. Code §31B-7-701(a) and (b).⁵ Eastern, however, made

⁴ Nor did it explain why Mr. Harlow should give up his share of any recovery in the Grim matter if he accepted the \$45,500.

⁵ It's not clear that the circuit court understood that Eastern was under a statutory obligation to make an offer of "fair value" to Mr. Harlow. In its final order, the circuit court noted that there were numerous discovery disputes, but that Eastern had complied with the Act by "delivering a purchase offer and the mandated accompanying information to the disassociated member within thirty (30) days." (JA 000011). The circuit court's language suggests that it believed that *any* purchase offer (whether or not for fair value) met the requirements of the Act. But, when read together, W.Va. Code §31B-7-701(a) and (b) dictate that the offer must be for "fair value."

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