# FIL COPY

136 - 6 2019

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 19-0643

MICHAEL D. HARLOW

Plaintiff below, Petitioner,

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

ν.

EASTERN ELECTRIC, LLC.

Defendant below, Respondent.

#### EASTERN ELECTRIC, LLC'S RESPONSE BRIEF

John R. Hoblitzell, Esq. (WVSB #1746)
John D. Hoblitzell, III, Esq. (WVSB # 9346)
Victoria L. Wilson, Esq. (WVSB # 10607)
Kay Casto & Chaney, PLLC
P.O. Box 2031
Charleston, WV 25327-2031
Phone: (304) 345-8900
Fax: (304) 345-8909
jhoblitzell@kaycasto.com
jdhoblitzell@kaycasto.com

<u>vwilson@kaycasto.com</u> Counsel for Respondent

December 6, 2019

##

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

Four days after counsels' conversation, Eastern served its second supplemental responses and produced accrued employee expenses billed to Brookfield, accrued billing to Brookfield through April 14, 2017, bank statements for vehicle loans, mortgage statements, payroll summaries for the weeks ending April 9, 2017 and April 28, 2017, accrued employee vacation through April 14, 2017, a payroll summary for Mr. Harlow's vacation payout, a paystub dated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Petitioner's counsel acknowledged these requests sought information well-beyond April 14, 2017. JA000357

May 5, 2017, for Mr. Harlow's vacation, accrued employee reimbursements through April 14, 2017, employee timesheets from April 1 through April 14, 2017, and April timesheet hours and accrued billing as of April 14, 2017. JA000362-000364; 000918-000928. 15

Both Mr. Rogers and Mr. Ewing worked together throughout discovery in good faith to resolve the discovery disputes. JA000355-000356; 000360 (J. Rogers); 000394-000395 (T. Ewing). Their testimony confirms that Eastern believed this supplementation, along with the pending reissuance of the subpoenas and the Court's ruling regarding "forward-looking" information resolved the remaining discovery disputes. JA000362-000365 (J. Rogers); 000401-000402 (T. Ewing).

Shortly after agreement on discovery was reached by Mr. Rogers and Mr. Ewing, Petitioner substituted Robert Dunlap as his counsel, who entered his appearance on November 9, 2018. After the close of discovery and without leave of court, Mr. Dunlap served additional subpoenas to several of Eastern's sureties. JA00001-00002; 002068-002109. On December 14, 2018, despite Mr. Rogers' agreement with Mr. Ewing,, without additional meet and confers, and without advising Eastern he believed its discovery responses remained deficient, Petitioner filed a motion to compel. JA00001-00002; 002110-002134. And, on December 21, 2018, Petitioner filed a Motion for Leave of Court to File an Amended Complaint to add claims against both Mr. Pritt and Mr. Skaggs individually, and another entity Trinity Solutions, LLC, for alleged acts or omissions that took place months after Petitioner's dissociation and that flowed from alleged

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Petitioner repeatedly failed to timely provide discovery materials to his expert, which also delayed his expert's ability to complete his valuation. For example, Petitioner did not provide the WIP information produced on October 19, 2018 until March 21, 2019 – some five months later. And, while Petitioner received documents from Sustainable Modular on August 1, 2018 in response to its subpoena, he waited more than seven and a half months before finally forwarding those documents to his expert on March 21, 2019. *See* JA000780-000781 (Pltf.'s Ex. 23, ACT Apr. 22, 2019 valuation at Appendix B "Sources of Data.")

breaches of duties owed to Trinity, not Eastern. 16 JA00001-00002; 001804.

These untimely filings led to a postponement of the Business Court mediation and a continuance of trial. After hearing argument on Eastern's objections, on February 19, 2019, the Court (1) denied Petitioner's motion to amend; (2) granted Eastern's motion to quash Petitioner's untimely subpoenas; and (3) denied Petitioner's motion to compel apart from allowing a limited inspection of Eastern's documents related to its accounts with Brookfield Renewable and Sustainable Modular. JA001809-001879; 001802-001809. This document inspection occurred as ordered. JA000011 at ¶27.

Eastern prevailed or substantially prevailed with respect to its objections to Petitioner's overbroad discovery requests and the last-minute attempt to expand the scope of the litigation by adding new parties and unrelated claims. Recognizing this, the Court properly determined that Eastern "substantially complied with the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure in regards to discovery" and that, while there were issues that could not be resolved without court involvement, the Circuit Court's discovery rulings were complied with. JA000011-000012 (June 19, 2019 *Order Regarding Attorney Fees* at Findings of Fact ¶28-29).

#### v. The stipulation as to the value of Mr. Harlow's interest.

Petitioner's assertion throughout his Brief that Eastern forced him to go through protracted and expensive litigation before ultimately stipulating to a value of \$100,000 misstates the history of settlement negotiations. The Court, in its Order Regarding Attorney Fees provided a succinct summary of settlement negotiations in its Findings of Fact that shows while Eastern was making good-faith efforts to bridge the gap, Petitioner was not reciprocating. JA000008, 000010-000011 (June 19, 2019 *Or. Regarding Attorney Fees* at Findings of Fact \$\figcap\$6-8, 18-25).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Mr. Harlow subsequently filed an amended motion seeking leave to file a second amended complaint. JA000001-000003

In May of 2018, a year before the stipulation was reached, Eastern made a settlement offer \$75,000.00. JA000010 (June 19, 2019 Or. Regarding Attorney Fees at Findings of Fact ¶18). When conveying this offer, counsel for Eastern advised that Eastern would be willing to pay up to six figures (\$100,000) to resolve this case. JA0000383-000384. Mr. Harlow rejected this offer and increased his demand to \$130,000 and 1/3<sup>rd</sup> of any potential Claims Commission recovery or \$200,000 with no Claims Commission recovery. JA000010 (June 12, 2019 Or. Regarding Attorney Fees at ¶19). In January of 2019, Eastern made an offer of \$95,000 plus 1/3<sup>rd</sup> of any potential Claims Commission recovery, which was essentially a "split the difference" number between the two parties' experts' valuations. JA000010-11 (June 12, 2019 Or. Regarding Attorney Fees at Findings of Fact ¶22). On January 24, 2019, Mr. Harlow rejected this offer and increased his demand again to \$122,000.00 plus interest, plus 1/3<sup>rd</sup> of the net of any potential Claims Commission recovery, plus attorney fees. Id. Attorney fees at that time were estimated at \$56,400, so this demand had a total value of approximately \$178,400. JA001257. Only after his expert reduced his valuation opinion was Petitioner willing to stipulate to a value of \$100,000, an amount that the case could have resolved for a year earlier before discovery commenced.

While Eastern's expert was prepared to testify the value of Petitioner's interest was less, Eastern stipulated to this amount to avoid significant additional litigation costs and expenses, including expert expenses, associated with litigating value. Because of the stipulation on value, the Court did not take evidence to determine the value of Petitioner's interest. If it had, the evidence developed during discovery could have easily supported a finding that the value of Petitioner's interest was much less than the amount ultimately stipulated to.

#### vi. Martha Hopkins Harlow's disqualification.

#### a. Representation of Eastern's in Grim.

An examination of Martha Hopkins Harlow's own affidavit demonstrates why her limited disqualification was proper. JA001703-001750. Martha Hopkins Harlow is a lawyer licensed to practice in West Virginia and admitted to the patent bar. JA001703 (Hopkins Harlow Aff. ¶1). From 2013 through 2015 she accompanied Mr. Harlow to hearings in the *Grim* matter and attended meetings with Eastern, its members, and their counsel prior to those hearings. JA001705-001705 (Hopkins Harlow Aff. ¶¶5,7). After this Court's remand of *Grim* in 2014, she participated extensively in the case.

In October of 2015, counsel for Eastern in the *Grim* case sought clarification about Ms. Hopkins Harlow's role as he was concerned about maintaining the attorney-client privilege. JA001705-001706 (Hopkins-Harlow Aff. ¶9). In response, she affirmed she was acting as counsel for Eastern and its members. JA001669 at fn. 4. In preparation for trial in February of 2016, she attended witness preparation sessions and helped draft Eastern's pretrial memorandum. JA001706 (Hopkins-Harlow Aff. ¶10-11). The *Grim* trial was continued to February of 2017 and in preparation for the 2017 trial, Ms. Hopkins Harlow prepared draft examination scripts for Eastern's members and its business manager, assisted in strategy and tactical decisions, prepared questions for Eastern's members to its trial counsel, attended witness preparation sessions, generated documents, such as a timeline, to "facilitate witness preparation", communicated regularly with trial counsel, and prepared exhibits and pretrial filings. JA001707-001708 (Hopkins Harlow Aff. ¶¶12-13). In short, she was involved in nearly every aspect of trial preparation in the *Grim* matter. 17 On March 23, 2017, she sent Eastern and its members a "file

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> She also assisted Eastern and its members in dealing with its trial counsel's outstanding invoices. JA0001708 (Hopkins Harlow Aff. ¶14).

closing letter" stating that she has been "assisting [Eastern] informally" in the *Grim* litigation and that her "representation of Eastern is now concluded." JA000915.

#### b. Involvement adverse to Eastern in the dissociation action.

Ms. Hopkins Harlow was actively directing and participating in Mr. Harlow's dissociation directly adverse to Eastern even before the conclusion of the *Grim* matter. The Harlow's retained Mr. Rogers in 2016 to discuss the preparation of an operating agreement, which then shifted to the preparation of a dissociation agreement. JA000246. Ms. Hopkins Harlow's affidavit avers she assisted in "most, if not all activities in this dissociation matter to date," including the "drafting and revising of the early settlement agreement;..." that was attached to Petitioner's March 20, 2017 notice letter. JA001710 (Hopkins Harlow Aff. ¶18); JA000825-000833. Ms. Hopkins Harlow's involvement in the dissociation adverse to Eastern at the outset is further demonstrated by the fact that when Mr. Rogers communicated with Mr. Stuart on April 28, 2017, about Mr. Stuart's redlines to the proposed dissociation agreement Ms. Harlow Hopkins helped draft, he forwarded the email not to Michael Harlow, but to Martha Hopkins Harlow. JA000593-00595.

Her actions adverse to Eastern continued unabated after April 14, 2017. She admits to being intimately involved in evaluating Eastern's initial offer and in preparing Petitioner's counteroffer; to meeting directly with the members of Eastern in the summer of 2017 without Eastern's counsel being present to continue efforts to negotiate the matter; to being the one that selected, retained, and interacted with Petitioner's expert; and to drafting the tolling agreement and the complaint. And, after filing suit, she drafted discovery requests, the third-party subpoenas, and worked on preparing "most if not all filings, exchanges between counsel, and

preparation for and attendance at hearings." JA001710-001711 (Hopkins Harlow Aff. ¶18)<sup>18</sup> JA000916-000917.

The value of Ms. Hopkins Harlow's legal services in the *Grim* case was put at issue in the distributive share negotiation when Petitioner's counsel asserted in his May 19, 2017, letter to Mr. Stuart that Petitioner should get credit in determining his share of any *Grim* Claims Commission action recovery for Ms. Hopkins Harlow's contributions to Eastern during the *Grim* case. JA001787-000790. Her work in *Grim* was again put at issue by Petitioner in his written discovery, which sought information regarding Mrs. Hopkins Harlow's legal services to Eastern. JA0001610; 001621-001646 (*See* Interrogatory No. 4 and Request for Admission No. 72.) And, she admitted to the Court the Petitioner had put the value of her legal services in *Grim* at issue during her argument in opposition to Eastern's Motion to Disqualify. JA0001582-001587. 19

Ms. Hopkins Harlow also admits to providing ten communications between her and Eastern's members, including communications Petitioner was not included on, to counsel for Mr. Harlow in this case for use in a September 6, 2018 meet and confer letter. JA0001713 (Hopkins Harlow Aff. ¶21);<sup>20</sup> JA000897-000903. Petitioner later filed these communications as exhibits to his December 2018 Motion to Compel.

A hearing was held on Eastern's motion on April 4, 2018. The Court held that an appearance of impropriety existed and that she was pursuing a claim against her former client:

Ms. Harlow: How could it hurt the LLC?

The Court: Well, I don't want to argue with you about it. I have found that you have told me that you're going to make a claim that could affect the value of this, this company.

Ms. Harlow: Based upon my legal fees, which I'm entitled to prove. I would have to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Ghostwriting is a form of representation. See W.Va. Rules Prof. Cond. R. 1.2, Cmt. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> At the same hearing, Ms. Hopkins Harlow admitted her own personal stake in this litigation saying; "...I'm involved in paying for this case. I'm affected by the expense in this case. I'm affected personally by the success of this case." JA001587r

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> The September 2, 2018 letter with attachments is found at JA000880-000915

prove that.

The Court. I get that, you are, but not against your own client. So I'm going to find there is a conflict of interest, and I will deny you're being admitted to practice this suit. So you may draw your order based upon that.

Ms. Harlow: Can I have a – some – we never get enough clarification from you, Your Honor. You've seen that a number of times. Let me ask some questions. What does that mean, I can't be counsel? Does that mean I can't talk to my --

The Court: That means I've found a conflict of interest by the appearance of impropriety under the rules; also that you have a claim for fees that could affect the market value of this LLC. And that's basically what we're fighting over, what the value is.

JA001587 (Tr. Apr. 4, 2019 Hrg.)

In so ruling, the Court then prohibited Ms. Hopkins Harlow from formally appearing as counsel for Petitioner. However, the Court specifically avoided the issue of whether her actions in providing extensive behind the scenes assistance in the litigation constituted violations of her ethical obligations. JA001589; 001415; 001417; 001871.

#### B. The Circuit Court applied the appropriate evidentiary standard.

In reviewing the decision of the lower court to award, deny, or grant in part a request for attorney fees this Court employs an abuse of discretion standard. *See Sanson v. Brandywine Homes, Inc.*, 215 W. Va. 307, 310–11, 599 S.E.2d 730, 733–34 (2004); *see also* Syl. Pt. 1, *W. Virginia Dep't of Transportation, Div. of Highways v. Newton*, 238 W. Va. 615, 797 S.E.2d 592 (2017). The Court did not abuse its discretion and acted properly in refusing to award attorney fees. As detailed below, the Court applied the standard that Petitioner advocated for and that which is required by West Virginia's common-law. Additionally, granting attorney fees under West Virginia Code §31B-7-702(d) is within the court's discretionary powers, and given the punitive nature of granting attorney fees, the Court rightfully declined Petitioner's request.

Petitioner never articulated in his fee motion that a lesser standard of proof should be applied. To the contrary, Petitioner argued that a clear and convincing evidence standard applies

to §7-702(d). For example, Mr. Harlow's Amended Motion for Summary Judgment Finding of Bad Faith, in a section arguing Eastern acted "arbitrarily, vexatiously, or not in good faith" under §31B-7-702(d), provides:

Defendant's failure to provide accounts receivable information to address deficiencies in its one-page Attachment B document and later concession of the same only when faced with third party evidence and expert testimony is clear and convincing evidence that Defendant ... acted "arbitrarily, vexatiously, or not in good faith" for purposes of Section 702(d) or in "bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly, or for oppressive reasons" under Sally-Mike Prop.

JA 002390-002391 (Emphasis added).<sup>21</sup>

Eastern does not concede that the Court erred in applying a clear and convincing standard. However, Petitioner now argues it was error to apply this standard. Assuming, arguendo, this was error, it was invited error. By specifically urging or silently acquiescing to the application of a clear and convincing evidence standard to §7-702(d), Mr. Harlow cannot now raise that alleged error on appeal. See Syl. Pts. 2 & 3, Hopkins v. DC Chapman Ventures, Inc., 228 W. Va. 213, 215, 719 S.E.2d 381, 383 (2011) (per curiam); Syl. Pt. 1, Maples v. W. Virginia Dep't of Commerce, Div. of Parks & Recreation, 197 W. Va. 318, 319, 475 S.E.2d 410, 411 (1996). This is "a cardinal rule of appellate review applied to a wide range of conduct." State v. Crabtree, 198 W. Va. 620, 627, 482 S.E.2d 605, 612 (1996).

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